THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY.

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Presiding Judge

Case No.: 2010-CP-26-10848

Appellate Court Case No.: 2015-001398

PAUL CURRY,

Appellant,

v.

TOWN OF ATLANTIC BEACH,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUL 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Counsel of Record:

Randall K. Mullins, Esquire

Jarrold E. Ownbey, Esquire

Mullins Law Firm, P.A.

P.O. Box 585

North Myrtle Beach, SC 29597

843.272.8902 Telephone

843.272.3075 Facsimile

Mullinslawfirm@aol.com

Attorneys for Appellant

Other Counsel of Record:

Pro se, per Order dated

July 5, 2016

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR AN INJUNCTION REQUIRING RESPONDENT TO CODIFY THE TOWN ORDINANCES AND ALLOW FOR THE PUBLIC INSPECTION THEREOF IN ACCORDANCE WITH §5-7-290, S.C. CODE ANN. (REV. 2004) WHERE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE ORDINANCES ARE CODIFIED IN COMPLIANCE WITH §5-7-290, S.C. CODE ANN. (REV. 2004) AND WHERE RESPONDENT FAILED TO RESPOND TO REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION CONCERNING THE CODIFICATION OF TOWN ORDINANCES?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF *RES JUDICATA* WHERE PRIOR ORDER FROM COMPANION CASE BETWEEN THE PARTIES REFERENCED BY THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ORDER RESPONDENT TO PROVIDE APPELLANT ACCESS TO CODIFIED ORDINANCES?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT DECLARING RESPONDENT TO BE IN VIOLATION OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT FOR FAILING TO PROVIDE CODIFIED ORDINANCES OF RESPONDENT TOWN FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION, IN VIOLATION OF §30-4-100, S.C. CODE ANN. (REV. 2007) AND §5-7-290, S.C. CODE ANN. (REV. 2004)?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO EXCLUDE WITNESSES PROPOSED BY RESPONDENT WHERE RESPONDENT FAILED TO IDENTIFY WITNESSES IN DISCOVERY AND ANNOUNCED THE WITNESSES IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE TRIAL AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWED APPELLANT LESS THAN AN HOUR TO INFORMALLY INTERVIEW THE PROPOSED WITNESSES OFFERED BY RESPONDENT PRIOR TO THE TRIAL OF THE MATTER?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO AWARD APPELLANT ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS FOR RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (FOIA)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant brought this action against Respondent on November 17, 2010, seeking a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief relating to the failure of Respondent to codify and index

the Ordinances of Respondent Town, reflecting all amendments and repeals thereto and to provide for the public inspection of the codified ordinances. Respondent filed an Answer to Appellant's Summons and Complaint on January 21, 2011 containing a general denial, specific denial and an affirmative defense of laches. Subsequently, Appellant, on February 18, 2011 propounded interrogatories, requests for production and requests for admission to Respondent. Respondent failed to respond to Appellant's discovery requests, prompting Appellant to file a Motion to Compel discovery against Respondent on April 7, 2011. On July 27, 2011, the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson held a hearing on Appellant's Motion to Compel which resulted in an Order filed September 16, 2011 ordering Respondent to provide responses to Appellant's discovery requests within Thirty (30) days and awarding Appellant attorney's fees in the amount of Eight Hundred Seventy One and 52/100ths Dollars (\$871.52) for Respondent's failure to comply. Respondent failed to provide any responses to Appellant's discovery requests contrary to Judge Culbertson's Order filed September 16, 2011.

On January 13, 2014, the matter was called for trial before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman, sitting without a jury. Prior to the commencement of the trial, Respondent announced that it intended to call Three (3) witnesses, namely, Linda Cheatham, William Booker and Cheryl Pereire, on behalf of Respondent. Appellant objected to Respondent calling these witnesses and made an oral motion in open Court to exclude these witnesses based upon the ground of unfair surprise in that Respondent had failed to identify any witnesses in discovery and failed to prepare a trial brief identifying any proposed witnesses. The Trial Court denied Appellant's motion, but instead offered Appellant a short opportunity to informally question Respondent's proposed witnesses to determine the subject matter of their testimony prior to the commencement of the trial

while the Trial Judge qualified the jury panel for other cases on the jury trial roster during that term of Court.

After the Trial Judge returned from qualifying the jury panel, Appellant again objected to Respondent utilizing the proposed witnesses and renewed their Motion to Exclude the witnesses proposed by Respondent, which was denied. At the conclusion of the trial, the parties were instructed to prepare proposed Orders and submit them to the Trial Judge within Thirty (30) days of the trial. The Trial Judge took the matter under advisement and did not render any oral rulings from the Bench.

The Trial Court issued its Order Denying Injunction and Declaratory Relief on September 8, 2014 finding that Appellant was collaterally estopped from litigating the matter based upon a prior Order which was not identified in the September 8, 2014 Order and that there was not a justiciable controversy allowing for a declaratory judgment to be entered. Appellant received a copy of the Trial Court's Order on September 15, 2014 and filed a Motion to Reconsider the September 8, 2014 Order of the Trial Court on September 24, 2014. A hearing on Appellant's Motion to Reconsider was held on April 13, 2015. On May 22, 2015, the Trial Judge issued an Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider, although in its Order, the Trial Court clarified that the prior Order referenced in the September 8, 2014 Order was an Order Granting Declaratory Judgment and Permanent Injunction filed January 27, 2010 in a separate case between the parties in Civil Action Number 2005-CP-26-1091 issued by the Honorable Cynthia Graham Howe, Master in Equity for Horry County. This appeal follows.

FACTS

Appellant was a resident of the Town of Atlantic Beach from approximately 2002 until 2012. (R. p. 66, lines 10-16; p. 95, lines 5-13). In 2003, Appellant was cited by the Town of Atlantic Beach Police Department for violation of a Town Ordinance prohibiting drinking an alcoholic beverage in public and convicted by the Municipal Court for the Town of Atlantic Beach. (R. p. 95, lines 19-22; p. 66, line 23- p. 67, line 10). As a result of receiving the citation, Appellant, acting *pro se*, requested, on multiple occasions, an opportunity to inspect and review the Town Ordinance which he was charged of violating. (R. p. 67, lines 11-20). As a result of a request made of Respondent to inspect the Town Ordinances, Appellant received a response from Respondent dated June 25, 2003, asking Appellant to specify what exactly he was asking to inspect. (R. p. 16; p. 68, lines 2-16; p. 95, line 25- p. 96, line 16; lines 20- 25). Appellant testified that at no time was he shown a copy of the Ordinance he was convicted of violating. (R. p. 97, lines 7-11). Ultimately, Appellant appealed the conviction from the Municipal Court of the Town of Atlantic Beach to the Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit. (R. p. 97, lines 12-19). On appeal, Appellant's conviction was reversed by the Honorable Steven H. John, purportedly based upon Respondent's lack of jurisdiction over the private property for the enforcement of Town Ordinances. (R. p. 97, line 20- p. 98, line 16).

Subsequently, Appellant made several intermittent requests of Respondent to review and inspect the codified Ordinances of the Town of Atlantic Beach, between 2003 and 2010. (R. p. 67, lines 16-20; p. 68, line 17-p. 69, line 10; line 16- p. 70, line 17; line 24- p. 72, line 10; line 17- p. 74, line 25; p. 75, line 13- p. 76, line 16; line 22- p. 77, line 11; lines 15-22; p. 78, lines 5-17; pp. 16-22; p. 280; p.26). That in response to the numerous requests made by Appellant to Respondent to allow Appellant to inspect and review the codified Ordinances of the Town, Appellant testified

that Respondent only formally responded to Appellant's requests on Two (2) occasions: June 25, 2003 and May 12, 2009. (R. p. 68, lines 3-7; p. 75, line 25- p. 76, line 16; p. 76, line 25- p. 77, line 16; p. 96, lines 3-16; p. 115, lines 2-12; p. 16). The June 25, 2003 response from Respondent requested Appellant specify what he was requesting, although Appellant's request was to inspect the Town's Ordinances, which Respondent's response references. (R. p. 16). In the May 12, 2009 correspondence, then-Town Manager, Kenneth McIver responded to a request made by Appellant to inspect the codified Ordinances of the Town of Atlantic Beach by informing Appellant that the Ordinances were not codified, but that Respondent had included an item in its 2009-2010 Budget to codify the Ordinances. (R. p. 115, lines 2-20). Ultimately, although the codification of the Town of Atlantic Beach's Ordinances was included as a line item in Respondent's Budgets for the years 2009-2010 and 2010-2011, it is uncontested that Respondent has not codified the Town's Ordinances. (R. p. 115, lines 17-20; p. 116, lines 2-8; line 22- p. 117, line 17; p. 54, lines 9- 13; p. 60, lines 3-10; p. 64, line 23- p. 65, line 9; p. 73, lines 9-13; p. 74, lines 6-10; p. 132, lines 5-9; p. 159, lines 4-10; p. 200, lines 3-9; p. 201, lines 14-15; p. 207, line 25- p. 208, line 24; p. 217, lines 9-17; p. 218, lines 2-6; p. 219, lines 14-19; p. 220, line 3- p. 221, line 2; p. 232, lines 11-23; pp. 290- 298).

ARGUMENT

"Declaratory judgments in and of themselves are neither legal nor equitable." *Brock v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 411 S.C. 106, 767 S.E.2d 203 (Ct. App. 2014) citing *Campbell v. Marion Cnty. Hosp. Dist.*, 354 S.C. 274, 279, 580 S.E.2d 163, 165 (Ct. App. 2003). "The standard of review for a declaratory judgment action is therefore determined by the nature of the underlying issue." *Id.* citing *Weidemann v. Town of Hilton Head Island*, 344 S.C. 233, 236, 542 S.E.2d 752, 753 (Ct. App. 2001). "Actions for injunctive relief are equitable in nature." *Id.* citing *Grosshuesch*

v. *Cramer*, 367 S.C. 1, 4, 623 S.E.2d 833, 834 (2005). “In equitable actions, an appellate court may review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Id.* citing *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010). “Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law and this Court reviews questions of law *de novo*.” *Perry v. Bullock*, 409 S.C. 137, 761 S.E.2d 251 (2014) citing *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible. “ *Id.* citing *State v. Baucom*, 340 S.C. 339, 342, 531 S.E.2d 922, 923 (2000). “The plain language of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislature’s intent.” *Id.* citing *Grier v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc.*, 397 S.C. 532, 538, 725 S.E.2d 693, 697 (2012). “When interpreting an undefined statutory term, the Court must look to its usual and customary meaning.” *Id.* citing *Strother v. Lexington Cnty. Recreation Comm’n*, 332 S.C. 54, 62, 504 S.E.2d 117, 122 (1998).

This appeal presents what appears to be a case of first impression as it relates to the interpretation of the underlying statute in this matter, namely §5-7-290, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2004). Specifically, the matter rests upon the definition of the undefined terms “codified” and “codification” contained in §5-7-290, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2004) as those terms relate to municipal ordinances which Appellant requested to inspect. Section 5-7-290, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2004) states:

Each municipal council ***shall provide by ordinance for the codification and indexing of all ordinances***, either typewritten or printed, and the maintenance of ordinances in a current form ***reflecting all amendments and repeals***. All ordinances as codified ***shall be available for public inspection at reasonable times***.

(Emphasis added). In the instant action, Appellant has requested an opportunity to inspect the codified ordinances of the Town of Atlantic Beach on myriad occasions between 2003 and 2010.

(R. p. 67, lines 16-20; p. 68, line 17- p. 69, line 10; line 16- p.70, line 17; line 24- p. 72, line 10; line 17- p. 74, line 25; p. 75, line 13- p. 76, line 16; line 22- p. 77, line 11; lines 15-22; p. 78, lines 4-17; pp. 16-22; p. 280; p. 26). Although numerous requests were made of Respondent for the inspection of its codified ordinances, Respondent has never produced codified ordinances for inspection, in violation of §5-7-290, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2004). It is important to note that during the trial of this matter, Respondent's trial counsel and Three (3) witnesses presented by Respondent in defense of this matter stated on at least Eighteen (18) occasions that Respondent's ordinances were not codified. (R. p. 115, lines 17-20; p. 116, lines 2-8; line 22- p. 117, line 17; p. 54, lines 9-13; p. 60, lines 3-10; p. 64, line 23- p. 65, line 9; p. 73, lines 9-13; p. 74, lines 6-10; p. 132, lines 5-9; p. 159, lines 4-10; p. 200, lines 3-9; p. 201, lines 14-15; p. 207, line 25- p. 208, line 24; p. 217, lines 9-17; p. 218, lines 2-6; p. 219, lines 14-19; p. 220, line 3- p. 221, line 2; p. 232, lines 11-23; pp. 290- 298). Notwithstanding the admissions that Respondent's ordinances were not codified as required by §5-7-290, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2004), Respondent argued that Appellant was afforded an opportunity to request copies of the Town's ordinances, and that on at least One (1) occasion, had provided Appellant with a copy of an ordinance. (R. p. 100, lines 7-25).

The Trial Court ultimately denied the relief sought by Appellant based upon Two (2) grounds: first, that a previous Order Granting Declaratory Judgment and Permanent Injunction issued by the Honorable Cynthia Graham Howe in a separate case between the parties concerning Respondent's failure to abide by the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, §30-4-10, *et seq.*, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2007) collaterally estopped Appellant from maintaining the present action and second, that no justiciable controversy exists between the parties to allow for a declaratory judgment to be entered. (R. pp. 2-8).

In a general sense, the crux of the matter at issue in this appeal is the statutory meaning of the terms “codified” and “codification” for the purposes of the requested inspection of the ordinances of a municipality pursuant to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, §30-4-10, *et seq.*, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2007). Once the foregoing is established, the secondary questions then become whether an Order issued in a separate case between the parties which does not reference the matter specifically before the Trial Court, can bar relief to a litigant under the theory of collateral estoppel and whether the failure to respond to a request made pursuant to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act presents a justiciable controversy allowing for the issuance of a declaratory judgment. Appellant will address each of these issues separately below.

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S REQUEST FOR AN INJUNCTION REQUIRING RESPONDENT TO CODIFY THE TOWN ORDINANCES AND ALLOW FOR THE PUBLIC INSPECTION THEREOF IN ACCORDANCE WITH §5-7-290, S.C. CODE ANN. (REV. 2004) WHERE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE ORDINANCES ARE CODIFIED IN COMPLIANCE WITH §5-7-290, S.C. CODE ANN. (REV. 2004) AND WHERE RESPONDENT FAILED TO RESPOND TO REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION CONCERNING THE CODIFICATION OF TOWN ORDINANCES.

The Trial Court held that Appellant was not entitled to injunctive relief requiring Respondent to allow the public inspection of Respondent Town’s codified ordinances on the theory of collateral estoppel. (R. p. 6; p.8). In support of its conclusion, the Trial Court stated:

For an action to be barred by collateral estoppel, Defendant must show that the issue in the present lawsuit was: ‘(1) actually litigated in the prior action; (2) directly determined in the prior action; and (3) necessary to support the prior judgment.’ *Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009). The doctrine only bars particular issues that were actually litigated; therefore, collateral estoppel is inapplicable when a party argues that the other party should have litigated a particular issue in the prior action. See *Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 216, 493 S.E.2d 826, 835 (S.C. 1997).

(R. p. 6). The Trial Court further reasoned that the Order issued by Judge Howe, Master in Equity for Horry County in Civil Action 2005-CP-26-1091, by which Appellant received a permanent injunction against Respondent for violations of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) established Appellant's right to review the ordinances of Respondent. (R. p. 6). Appellant does not dispute the case law cited by the Trial Court, but rather the application of the appropriate case law to the instant action.

The Trial Court incorrectly determined that the previous litigation concerning FOIA between the parties had addressed the matter presently before this Court, specifically, Respondent's denial of Appellant's numerous requests over the better part of a decade to inspect and review Respondent's codified ordinances. Upon review of the Order entered in Civil Action 2005-CP-26-1091, the Trial Court's error becomes clear. In the Order filed January 27, 2010 in Civil Action 2005-CP-26-1091, Judge Howe states:

As the Defendant is in default and the allegations contained in the Complaint are deemed to be true, the Court finds that as alleged in the Complaint herein the Defendant, The Town of Atlantic Beach (the "Town"), has violated the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (the "SCFOIA"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-10, et seq., in the following respects: a. The Defendant has failed to notify the Plaintiff of the times, dates, places, and Agenda of all meetings, whether scheduled, rescheduled or called, of the Atlantic Beach Town Council (the "Town Council"). b. The Defendant has failed to note in the Minutes of the meetings of the Town Council, the efforts made to comply with Plaintiff's requests for notification of the times, dates, places, and Agenda of all meetings, whether scheduled, rescheduled, or called, of the town [sic] Council. c. The Defendant has failed to make available to the Plaintiff, for public inspection and copying, the prepared Minutes, whether "approved" or "unapproved" of meetings of the Town Council, for the six months preceding the filing of this action, during the hours of operation of the Atlantic Beach Town Hall (the "Town Hall"), without the Plaintiff being required to make a written request to inspect or copy the records, when the Plaintiff appeared in person to make such request. d. The Defendant failed to make requested public records available to the Plaintiff, for inspection and copying, after declining to provide written notification to the Plaintiff within the fifteen days (excepting Saturdays, Sundays, and legal public holidays), allowed by law, when Plaintiff returned to the Town Hall after the expiration of the above period.

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