**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Horry County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Presiding Judge

RECEIVED
FEB 11 2016
SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2015-001398
CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2010-CP-26-10848

PAUL CURRY,

APPELLANT,

V.

TOWN OF ATLANTIC BEACH,

RESPONDENT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Leah B. Moody
LAW OFFICE OF LEAH B. MOODY, LLC
235 E. Main Street, Suite 115 (29730)
Post Office Box 1015
Rock Hill, South Carolina 29731
(803) 327-4192
lbmatty@comporium.net
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

The trial court held that Appellant was not entitled to injunctive relief in the form of requiring Respondent to have a third party “codify” the Town’s Ordinances. Further,

Appellant has and was allowed an inspection of Respondent's Town ordinances. (Def. Ex. #18; Order Denying Injunction and Declaratory Relief, September 8, 2014, p. 5-7.)

The Trial Court concluded that:

For an action to be barred by collateral estoppel, Respondent must show that the issue in the present lawsuit was: **'(1) actually litigated in the prior action; (2) directly determined in the prior action; and (3) necessary to support the prior judgment.'** *Carolina Renewal Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009). The doctrine only bars particular issues that were actually litigated; therefore, collateral estoppel is inapplicable when a party argues that the other party should have litigated a particular issue in the prior action. See *Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 216, 493 S.E.2d 826, 835 (S.C. 1997).

(Order Denying Injunction and Declaratory Relief, September 8, 2014, p. 5).

The trial court further reasoned that the Order issued by Judge Howe, Master in Equity for Horry County in Civil Action 2005-CP-26-1091, which granted Appellant a permanent injunction against the Respondent for violations of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) established Appellant's right to review the ordinances of Respondent. *Id.* The trial court correctly determined that the previous litigation concerning the FOIA between the Appellant and Respondent regarding the Town's Ordinances was resolved in Judge Howe's Order. *Id.* In the Order filed January 7, 2010 in Civil Action 2005-CP-26-1091, Judge Howe states:

As the Respondent is in default and all the allegations contained in the Complaint are deemed to be true, the Court finds that as alleged in the Complaint herein the Respondent, The Town of Atlantic Beach ("The Town"), has violated the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (the "SCFOIA"), S.C Code §§ 30-4-10, et seq., in the following respects: a. The Respondent has failed to notify the Plaintiff of the times, dates, places, and Agenda of all meetings, whether scheduled, rescheduled, or called, of the Atlantic Beach Town Council (the "Town Council"). b. The Respondent has failed to note in the Minutes of the meetings of the Town Council, the efforts made to comply with Plaintiff's requests for notification of the times, dates, places, and Agenda of all meetings, whether scheduled, rescheduled, or called, of the town [sic] Council. c. The Respondent has failed to make available to the Plaintiff, for public inspection and copying, the

prepared Minutes, whether “approved” or “unapproved” of meetings of the Town Council, for six months preceding the filing of this action, during the hours of operation of the Atlantic Beach Town Hall (the “Town Hall”), without the Plaintiff being required to make a written request to inspect or copy the records, when the Plaintiff appeared in person to make such request. d. The Respondent failed to make requested public records available to the Plaintiff, for inspection and copying, after declining to provide written notification to Plaintiff within fifteen days (excepting Saturdays, Sundays, and legal public holidays), allowed by law, when Plaintiff returned to the Town Hall after the expiration of the above period.

(Pl. Ex. #17, p. 2-3, 1a-d.)

Appellant argues from the reading of the Complaint and Order that only Minutes of the Town Council were the basis of the action and not the Town’s Ordinances.

Therefore, collateral estoppel does not apply.

a. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

However, the trial court opined that “[t]he availability of the [Town’s] ordinances for public review was an issue that the parties litigated in the prior action. The order of Judge Howe provided injunctive relief and established the right of Plaintiff to review the ordinances. Plaintiff is not entitled to additional injunctive relief herein as he is collaterally estopped from obtaining the relief sought under the FOIA.” (Order Denying Injunction and Declaratory Relief, September 8, 2014, p. 5).

Appellant concedes that the Order issued by Judge Howe does require Respondent to afford Appellant access to “public records” that includes town ordinances. (R. p. 83, lines 1-6; 17-21; R. p. 84, lines 21-25.) Further, at trial, Appellant testified that the town ordinances were public record and that was his point to have all documents available. (R. p. 89-90, lines 22-25; 1-11.) However, the Appellant’s brief position is now the town ordinances are not public records and the trial court erred in its reasoning

because neither Order defines “public records.” Therefore, ordinances are not included in the category or definition of “public records.”

However, the trial court, in the case at bar, interpreted the prior Order’s usage of the term “public records” to include town ordinances, even though the term “ordinances” is not contained in the prior Order. (Order Denying Injunction and Declaratory Relief, September 8, 2014, p.5). There is no need for the trial court to define “public records” for FOIA purposes as § 30-4-20, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2007) defines “public records” as follows:

(c) Public record includes ***all*** books, papers, maps, photographs, cards, tapes, recordings, or **other documentary materials regardless of physical form or characteristics prepared, owned, used, in the possession of, or retained by a public body [emphasis added]...**

The trial court found the ordinances to be public records based on the plain and unambiguous meaning of the words “public records.”

b. CODIFICATION OF THE TOWN’S ORDINANCES

Appellant argues that Respondent failed to respond to Appellant’s Request for Admissions. Included in the request for admission is a request stating: “admit that there are no codified ordinances for the Town of Atlantic Beach.” The trial court opined “Plaintiff has failed to make a clear showing of the existence of an actual controversy and he is not entitled to the relief sought. *Ott v. Tindal* 297 S.C. at 398, 377 S.E.2d at 305.

At trial, Appellant proffered the unanswered requests for admission to the trial court upon the commencement of the trial. (R. p. 21-22, lines 23-25; 1-17; Pl. Ex. 1.) The Respondent did respond to the request for admission by stipulating “to the fact that there are no codified ordinances for the Town of Atlantic Beach.” Respondent also admitted

“the \$10,700 allocated in the 2010-2011 proposed budget was not realized and/or executed for the purpose of codifying the town ordinances, it did not go forward, they were not able to.” (R. p. 21, lines 2-9.)

The trial court opined the following:

“In the absence of a justiciable controversy, the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to provide relief.¹³ A justiciable controversy exists when ‘there is a definite assertion of legal rights and a positive legal duty which is denied by the adverse party.’¹⁴ If the judgment would not settle legal rights of the parties, the judgment would be merely advisory, and therefore beyond the scope of the purpose of a declaratory judgment.¹⁵”

(Order Denying Injunction and Declaratory Relief, September 8, 2014, p. 5). Guided by Ott, trial court opined:

“In Ott, the South Carolina Supreme Court upheld a declaratory judgment in which a trial court construed terms concerning compensation and the time frame to present a claim under the Guaranty Fund Act.¹⁶ There, a justiciable controversy existed because the statutory interpretation concerned terms affecting without a showing of a legal right or duty. Whether Defendant organizes its ordinances in a bound volume versus an unbound volume neither affects the positive legal duty of Defendant to make those ordinances available to the public, nor the legal right of Plaintiff to review those public ordinances. If the ordinances are readable so as Plaintiff can exercise his right to review them, interpretation under the MOCS would not resolve any further legal rights of the parties. In essence, Plaintiff seeks to have the court issue an advisory opinion involving statutory interpretation which is contrary to case precedent in that no justiciable controversy exists. Our law does not permit this Court to issue merely advisory opinions and this Court therefore denies the request of Plaintiff to construe the meaning of codification under the MOCS.

Id.

¹³ See *Tourism Expenditure*, 403 S.C. at 81, 742 S.E.2d at 374 (“holding that parties cannot by consent or agreement confer jurisdiction on the court to render a declaratory judgment in the absence of an actual justiciable controversy.”)(citing *Power v. McNair*, 255 S.C. 150, 153, 177 S.E.2d 551, 552 (1970)).

¹⁴ *Graham v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co.*, 319 S.C. 69, 71, 459 S.E.2d 844, 846 (S.C. 1995).

¹⁵ See *Tourism Expenditure*, 403 S.C. at 81, 742 S.E.2d at 374.

¹⁶ *Id.* 297 S.C. at 399, 377 S.E.2d at 306.

Acknowledging that the Respondent failed to reply to the Request to Admit regarding the existence of “codified” ordinances for the Town of Atlantic Beach, the Town did have ordinances and those ordinances complied with § 5-7-290, S.C. Code Ann. (Rev. 2004). Further, the Town’s Ordinances were available for the Appellant to review, which in fact the Appellant reviewed. (R. p. 66-67, lines 13-25; 1-5; 13-18.)

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING CURRY’S REQUEST FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA WHERE THE ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED.

An appellant must raise to the trial court with specificity in a timely manner and receive a ruling from the trial court on an issue for preservation of the issue. If the issue is not raised and the court does not ruled upon it, then an appellant must raise the issue by way of Rule 59(e) motion. Then, an appellant must raise the issue in the appellant’s statement of issues on appeal in initial brief with citation to authority, or the issue is not preserved.

A party must file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion requesting a ruling to preserve the issue for the court’s review. *Home Med. Sys., Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d 582. Further, the Appellate court may find an issue unpreserved even though the parties themselves did not argue issue preservation. *Atl. Cost Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E. 2d 282, 285 (2012).

The Appellant did not raise this issue at trial and is not properly preserve for the record. Although the Appellant filed a Rule 59(e), the Appellant did not raise with specificity the issue through his Rule 59(e) motion orally or in writing. The Court did not have a chance to rule on the issue.

However, the doctrine of res judicata is a distinguishable concept. *Beall v. Doe*, 281 S.C. 363, 315 S.E.2d 186 (S.C. App., 1984). Res judicata encompasses both issue preclusion and claim preclusion. *Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201 at 216, 493 S.E.2d at 826 (1997). However, res judicata is more commonly referred to simply as claim preclusion. *Garris v. Governing Bd. of S.C. Reinsurance Facility*, 333 S.C. 432, 449, 511 S.E.2d 48, 57 (S.C. 1998). Claim preclusion bars plaintiffs from pursuing a later suit where the claim (1) was litigated or (2) could have been litigated. *Crestwood Golf Club, Inc.*, 328 S.C. at 216, 493 S.E.2d at 835. The South Carolina Supreme Court recently reaffirmed the following statement of the doctrine:

“Res judicata bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties. Under the doctrine of res judicata, [a] litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit.”

Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway, 334 S.C. 30, 34, 512 S.E.2d 106, 109 (S.C. 1999) (alteration in original) (citations omitted), cited with approval in *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 172, 712 S.E.2d 408, 414 (S.C. 2011).

Res judicata may be applied if (1) the identities of the parties are the same as in the prior litigation, (2) the subject matter is the same as in the prior litigation, and (3) there was a prior adjudication of the issue by a court of competent jurisdiction. *Johnson v. Greenwood Mills, Inc.*, 317 S.C. 248, 250-51, 452 S.E.2d 832, 833 (S.C. 1994). The doctrine of res judicata is not an “ironclad bar,” however, to a later lawsuit. *Judy*, 393 S.C. at 167, 712 S.E.2d at 412; *Garris*, 333 S.C. at 449, 511 S.E.2d at 57 (S.C. 1998); *Clark v. Aiken Cnty. Gov't*, 366 S.C. 102, 109, 620 S.E.2d 99, 102 (Ct. App. 2005).

However, in a recent case, *Catawba Indian Nation v. South Carolina*, the Court

discussed the application of res judicata to declaratory judgments. 407 S.C. 526, 756 S.C.2d 900 (S.C. 2014). Specifically, the Court opined “although res judicata normally applies to issues that were previously raised or that could be raised in the prior action, declaratory judgments are distinguishable. As one legal treatise has observed, res judicata does apply to declaratory judgments, but only as to issues actually decided by the court...” *Id.* at 535.

In this case, the matter did determine the production of public records, that includes ordinances that Plaintiff alleged do not exist, and res judicata would be inapplicable to this declaratory relief action.

The identities of the parties are the same as in the prior litigation. On February 28, 2005, Mr. Curry filed an action for Declaratory Judgment and Permanent Injunction in Horry County Court of Common Pleas against the Town of Atlantic Beach. (2005-CP-26-1091, Horry County, filed February 28, 2005). A hearing was held on November 29, 2009 and the matter was extensively negotiated according to the Settlement Order dated January 25, 2010. The subject matter included the problems Mr. Curry incurred with the Town in complying with FIOA. The issues date back to April 25, 2003 through February 25, 2005. In that case, the allegations in the Complaint include dates June 25, 2003, July 3, 2003, January 3-5, 2005, May 18-19, 2006 and March 24, 2009 that Mr. Curry stated the Town violated FIOA. Mr. Curry filed his lawsuit on February 28, 2005 that dealt with public records. The Consent Order submitted from the Master-In-Equity dated January 25, 2010 requires the Town to comply with FIOA and provides additional duties to the Town in providing Mr. Curry notice of hearings and the like under FIOA. The

Order was filed on January 27, 2010 as the final action in the matter. The Order addressed production of the “public records” pursuant to FIOA.

Because this issue was not raised with specificity and ruled upon by the trial court and does not meet any exception to the rule for issue preservation. The appellant is bar from raising this issue as it is not properly preserved for the record.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING CURRY’S REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT WHERE THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT.

Section 5-7-290 provides “[E]ach municipal council shall provide by ordinance for the **codification and indexing** of all ordinances either **typewritten or printed**, and **the maintenance** of ordinances in a current form reflecting all amendments and repeals. All ordinances as codified shall be available for public inspection at reasonable times.” S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-290.

According to *Black’s Law Dictionary*, the plain meaning of *codification* is “[t]he process of compiling, arranging, and systematizing the laws of a given jurisdiction, or of a discrete branch of law, into an ordered code; the code that results from this process.” *Black’s Law Dictionary* 252 (7th ed. 1999).

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